THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission

R. Michael Campbell, II, Commissioner; T. Scott Beck, Commissioner; Gene McCaskill,  
Commission Chair

---

W.C.C. File No.: 1708722  
Appellate Case No.: 2020-000718

---

Timothy Clayton, Employee, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Transportation, Employer; and SC State Accident Fund,  
Carrier, Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Elizabeth McMahon Pentz  
S.C. Bar No. 68426  
McWhirter Bellinger & Assoc., P.A.  
119 East Main Street  
Lexington, South Carolina 29072  
803.359.5523 tele

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. The Appellate Panel erred as a matter of fact in finding that the Appellant's preexisting psychiatric and psychological conditions were not aggravated subsequent to the March 28, 2017, on the job accident despite two (2) causation opinions which met the statutory burden of proof. S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160 (D) (4).
  
- II. The Appellate Panel erred as a matter of law in finding that the Appellant's preexisting psychiatric and psychological conditions were not aggravated subsequent to the March 28, 2017, on the job accident despite two (2) causation opinions which met the statutory burden of proof. S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160 (D) (4).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This workers' compensation matter originated out of an admitted low back injury by accident on March 28, 2017, while Timothy Clayton ("Appellant") was acting within the course and scope of his employment with Respondent South Carolina Department of Transportation ("SCDOT"). (R. p. 335). Appellant alleged additional injuries to his right hip, right leg and aggravation of preexisting psychiatric and psychological conditions. (R. p. 31).

The Respondents' filed a March 21, 2018, Form 21 final hearing request (R. pp. 590-592) and Appellant an April 5, 2018, Form 50 hearing request for a compensability determination whether the work injury aggravated preexisting psychiatric and psychological conditions; and payment for medical treatment July 20, 2017, necessary an injection by the authorized treating orthopedic. (R. pp. 593-595). Appellant filed a Form 22 response and Amended Form 50 alleging permanent and total disability. (R. pp. 596-603). The Respondents' May 4, 2018, Form 51 admitted a back injury only and denied the July 20, 2017, medical treatment subsequent to their authorized physician's injection; aggravation of the Claimant's preexisting psychological condition; and permanent and total disability. (R. pp. 604-605). The parties conducted mandatory mediation July 13, 2018, which failed. The parties executed a consent order for additional discovery in lieu of the October 25, 2018, Forms 50/51/21 hearing.

The Single Commissioner held a March 6, 2019, hearing on all issues, (R. pp. 447-585) and issued a May 14, 2019, decision, and order in favor of Appellant. (R. pp. 3-13). Respondents appealed to the Full Commission Panel May 28, 2019. The Full Panel held oral arguments August 19, 2019 (R. pp. 586-603); and issued a decision and order March 23, 2020, which affirmed the Single Commissioner's causation determination on Appellant July 20, 2017, seizure episode. (R. pp. 14-28, 27).

However, the Full Panel reversed the Single Commissioner's causation determination on aggravation of preexisting psychiatric and psychological conditions. (R. pp. 14-28, 27-28).

Appellant filed an April 21, 2020, Notice of Appeal and received the Full Panel hearing transcript June 2, 2020. This is the Appellant's Final Brief from the Full Panel's Decision. The Appellant requests that this Court reverse the Full Panel's decision that the Appellant did not sustain an aggravation of preexisting psychiatric and psychological conditions.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The S.C. Administrative Procedures Act (“APA”) provides the standard for judicial review of decisions by the administrative Workers’ Compensation Commission. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380 (“The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact.”); Pierre v. Seaside Farms, Inc., 386 S.C. 534, 540, 689 S.E.2d 615, 618 (2010); Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 133-34, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). The Appellant asserts that the Full Panel’s decision was “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record”. S.C. Code Ann §1-23-380. (5)(e). “Under the Administrative Procedures Act (APA), the Court of Appeals may reverse or modify the decision of the Workers' Compensation Commission when the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the decision is affected by an error of law or is clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.” Sellers v. Tech Service, Inc., 421 S.C. 30, 36, 803 S.E.2d 731, 733 (Ct. App. 2017); S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5) (2011).

“The findings of an administrative agency are presumed correct and will be set aside only if unsupported by substantial evidence. Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 222, 628 S.E.2d 262, 266 (Ct. App. 2006). “The Court of Appeals must affirm the Workers' Compensation Commission's decision unless it is clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record.” Nettles v. Spartanburg School District #7, 341 S.C. 580, 535 S.E.2d 146 (Ct. App. 2000).

“[G]uiding [o]ur workers’ compensation system [is] that the Act is to be liberally construed in favor of the claimant. The second is the equally compelling evidentiary principle that an award may not rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.” Hutson v. S.C. State Ports Authority, 399 S.C. 381, 732 S.E.2d 500 (2012). The Commission’s decision “must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it.” Wynn v. People’s Natural Gas Co. of S. C., 238 S.C. 1, 12, 118 S.E.2d 812, 818 (1961).

“The Appellate Panel is given discretion to weigh and consider all the evidence, both lay and expert, when deciding whether causation has been established.” Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7, 395 S.C. 17, 23, 716 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct. App. 2011). “[T]he fact finder may disregard” medical evidence only if there is other competent evidence in the record to support their conclusion. Id.

The Appellant asserts that the Full Panel’s decision was “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record”. S.C. Code Ann §1-23-380. (5)(e). The record clearly supports that the Appellant was terminated without just cause based upon the evidence presented, lack of evidence presented, witness testimony, and record as a whole.

## ARGUMENT

**THE FULL COMMISSION APPELLATE PANEL ERRED IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT'S PSYCHIATRIC/PSYCHOLOGICAL CONDITIONS WERE NOT CAUSALLY RELATED BY AGGRAVATION SUBSEQUENT TO HIS MARCH 28, 2017, ON THE JOB ACCIDENT.**

**A. The Appellant satisfied the legal burden of proof.**

Appellant clearly met the burden of proof required under S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-160 and prevailing caselaw that his preexisting psychiatric/psychological conditions were causally related to his March 28, 2017, on the job accident. Appellant presented his physician's statement which specifically satisfied S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160 (D) (4).

*(D) Stress, mental injuries, and mental illness alleged to have been aggravated by a work-related physical injury may not be found compensable unless the aggravation is: (4) noted in a medical record of report of the employee's physician as causally related or connected to the injury or accident.*

(R. pp. 44-45, 50-51)

"Claims for psychological injury are compensable only if the claimant proves by a preponderance of evidence they are caused by physical injury or by extraordinary and unusual conditions of employment." Pack v. State Dept. Of Transportation, 381 S.C. 526 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing Frame v. Resort Servs., Inc., 357 S.C. 520, 593 S.E. 2d. 491 (Ct. App. 2004)). "Mental injuries are compensable if they are induced either by physical injury or by unusual or extraordinary conditions of employment." Getsinger v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp., 335 S.C. 77, 81, 515 S.E.2d 104, 106 (Ct.App.1999) (citing Kennedy v. Williamsburg County, 242 S.C. 477, 131 S.E.2d 512 (1963); and Stokes v. First Nat'l Bank, 306 S.C. 46, 50, 410 S.E.2d 248, 250 (1991)). "Aggravation of pre-existing psychiatric problems is compensable if that aggravation is caused by a work-related physical injury." Anderson v. Baptist Medical Center and Palmetto Hospital Trust Fund, 343 S.C. 487, 493, 541 S.E.2d 526, 528 (2001). (citing Toler v. Black & Decker, 134 N.C. App. 695, 518 S.E.2d 547, 551 (1999)).

Appellant's work and psychiatric treatment timeline is beyond important. Despite all previous psychiatric treatment, 2010 death of Appellant's military Son, or medication changes, the Appellant *worked for Respondent Employer 2009 until July 17, 2017.* (R. pp. 279-331, 485, 499). As Respondents aptly point out, 42-9-160 (D) the Appellant must provide "either an admission of the aggravation or a specific medical finding by *a physician.*" The Respondents state on page 20: "No authorized treating physician ever opined that Appellant's psychiatric and psychological condition had been aggravated by his work accident or referred Appellant for psychiatric or psychological treatment relating to his work accident." In fact, Dr. Kirkland stated this premise on two (2) occasions. (R. pp. 44-45, 50-51).

The statute does not require that an *authorized* treating physician provide medical causation. Such a mandate would have an absurd result as no Claimant could ever meet this burden in the face of perpetual Employer/Carrier denials. The Respondents assert: "Further, Dr. Kirkland's treatment records for Claimant do not appear to support the opinions expressed in his questionnaire responses." Appellant consulted with his long-time treating psychiatrist, James R. Kirkland, M.D., immediately prior to the March 28, 2017, accident—on March 21, 2017. (R. p. 40). Dr. Kirkland noted "Pt has functioned well since his last appointment. He has some situational stresses at times but has not come anywhere close to a panic attack. He has adjusted well to the new policies that were implemented at work some time ago. He continues to focus well on Vyvanse 30. Mood-good. Affect-bright. No attention defi\*\* [*Sic*] noted." (R. p. 40).

Appellant returned to Dr. Kirkland *after* a July 20, 2017, authorized orthopedic appointment in which he suffered a seizure following injection administration. (R. p. 40). Both of Dr. Kirkland's August 7, 2017, and August 17, 2017, reports specifically recorded: "Seen prior to scheduled appointment." (R. p. 40-41).

Subsequently, Dr. Kirkland opined December 5, 2017:

**ALL OPINIONS ARE TO A REASONABLE DEGREE OF MEDICAL CERTAINTY:**

*Timothy Neal Clayton's increased anxiety, panic attacks, and depression were most probably (more likely than not i.e. greater than 50% likelihood) aggravated by his low back/right leg/right hip pain; and July 20, 2017, seizure originating when Mr. Clayton lifted hydraulic pumps to saddles on March 28, 2017, while at work.*

Dr. Kirkland reiterated that it was still his opinion by correspondence dated May 15, 2018:

*[T]hat Timothy Neal Clayton's increased anxiety, panic attacks, and depression were most probably (more likely than not i.e. greater than 50% likelihood) aggravated by his low back/right leg/right hip pain; and July 20, 2017, seizure originating when Mr. Clayton lifted hydraulic pumps to saddles on March 28, 2017, while at work.*

(R. p. 44-45).

Both statements conclusively satisfied 42-1-160 (D) (4). It is no matter that Respondents believe Dr. Kirkland's treatment records do not support the causation. The fact is Dr. Kirkland provided the statutory requirement. It is worth noting that Dr. Kirkland's causal determinations were unchallenged.<sup>1</sup>

"Although medical evidence "is entitled to great respect," the Commission is not bound by the opinions of medical experts and may disregard medical evidence in favor of other competent evidence in the record." Burnette v. City of Greenville, 401 S.C 417, 737 S.E.2d 200 (Ct. App. 2012) (citing Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7, 395 S.C. 17, 23, 716 S.E.2d 123, 126 (Ct.App.2011)). As the Potter court explored, the Appellate Panel can certainly disregard medical evidence if other evidence supports an alternate conclusion. First, the medical evidence presented was uncontested. Second, the Respondents presented no compelling medical or other evidence to counter Appellant's 42-1-160 (D) (4) submission. Respondents competing psychiatric opinion by Dyana Lowndes-Rosen, M.D. stated as follows:

*Pursuant to request in letter of Ms. Benson of December 15, 2017:*

---

<sup>1</sup> Compliance with S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-35 as well.

1. *Primary psychiatric diagnosis is of Panic Disorder with Agoraphobia and second diagnosis is ADHD, Inattentive Type, diagnosed by Dr. Kirkland and believed by Mr. Clayton. I do not have an opinion whether this is an accurate diagnosis.*
  2. *Psychological background and diagnoses addressed in report.*
  3. *I cannot determine causation of Mr. Clayton's cognitive dysfunction. On possible etiology is psychomotor retardation due to his depression, not related to W/C injury. Another possibility is overuse of tranquilizer medication in combination with his other medications, for example, tranquilizer such as Valium and Xanax in excess dosage.*
  4. *His reports of chronic anxiety with depression preexisting W/C injury did not render him unable to be employed at his job description.*
- My professional opinions are stated within a reasonable degree of medical certainty. If further information becomes available, such additional information may or may not change my opinion rendered in the evaluation.<sup>2</sup>*
- (R. pp. 350-355, 355).

Dr. Rosen stated both “*I do not have an opinion whether this is an accurate diagnosis*” and “*I cannot determine causation of Mr. Clayton's cognitive dysfunction*” which does not answer the necessary questions, disprove Dr. Kirkland’s two (2) causation statements, or neutralize their impact. (R. p. 355).

Dr. Kirkland incorporated both Dr. Rosen’s March 6, 2018, evaluation report, and psychologist William Haxton’s, Ph.D., reports into his second causation statement which remained the same.<sup>3</sup> (R. pp. 44-45). The Respondents issued no evidentiary rebuttal compliant with the prevailing legal standard.

Thus, the Hearing Commissioner opined: “[A]fter a careful consideration and study of all the evidence as well as a personal observation of the Claimant’s demeanor, there is substantial and reliable probative evidence to support the [F]indings of Fact.” (R. pp. 3-13, 9). His findings included:

3. *The testimony of Claimant, Timothy M. Clayton, was clear and honest. Mr. Clayton possesses a ninth (9<sup>th</sup>) grade education. [Hrg. Tr. Pg. 51, ln. 25-pg. 52, ln. 2]. His*

---

<sup>2</sup>Dr. Rosen’s IME report: A. Acknowledged Midlands Orthopedics reports: “This was said to not be caused by but aggravated by his work injury.” B. Stated: “I do not have any notes relevant to early treatment.” C. Referenced: Midlands Orthopaedics notes, but not 08-24-2017 which thoroughly addressed work concerns. D. Omitted: Carolina Occupational Healthcare records; Palmetto USC Orthopedic 01-04-2018 IME report; 12-07-2017 FCE report; Prior family physician reports.

<sup>3</sup> Ivan E. LaMotta, M.D., noted 08-24-2017 that Appellant developed anxiety and agoraphobia after the 07-20-2017 appointment.

- preexisting psychological issue dates to his childhood. Mr. Clayton cutoff all contact with father. [Hrg. Tr. Pg.127, ln. 24-pg. 128, ln. 9]. In the past, the Claimant experienced increased work to larger vehicles and increased pressure from job, but continued to work until July 17, 2017, with the Employer even during his treatment with James R. Kirkland, M.D., which were generally three (3) months apart, but sometimes sooner, especially after the March 28, 2017, on the job accident. [Hrg. Tr. Pg.53, ll. 5-15; Pg. 85, ll.1-9; Pg. 86, ll.6-18; Pg. 94, ll. 2-6, 19-21; CL APA#1, pgs. 1-5; DEF APA#1, pgs. 1-10]. Since receiving psychological counseling pursuant to Dr. Kirkland's recommendation, the Claimant did not think his psychological condition was any better or worse; everything is about the same; treatment does not seem to be working. [Hrg. Tr. Pg. 98, ln. 20- pg. 100, ln.2]. The Claimant's medications were increased. [C-1].*
5. *Dr. Kirkland provided two (2) causation statements December 5, 2017 and May 15, 2018, that opined to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the Claimant's increase anxiety, panic attacks, and depression were most probably aggravated by his low back/right leg/right hip pain. [Cl. APA #1, Pgs. 9-10; 15-16]. The Defendants submitted Dana-Lowndes Rosen's, M.D. March 16, 2018, independent psychiatric evaluation. [DEF. APA#2]. In this report, Dr. Rosen references Mr. Crocker and Mr. Lang. [DEF. APA#2, Pg. 27].*
  6. *The Claimant's preexisting psychiatric and psychological conditions were aggravated subsequent to his March 28, 2017, on the job accident.*
  7. *The Claimant is not at maximum medical improvement for the psychological overlay and is entitled to additional treatment.*
  8. *A full psychological evaluation needs to be done by a certified psychiatrist*
  13. *None of the doctors used in the treatment submitted in the parties' APAs are to be used by either party as treating doctors. I do not find either James. R. Kirkland, M.D., Scott Psychiatric Institute or Dyana-Lowndes Rosen, M.D., one-time IME, convincing based on the overall evidence. Mr. Clayton found Dr. Kirkland by internet referral. (DEF APA #1, Pg. 1).*
  16. *The Claimant met his burden of proof as he submitted two (2) causation statements by treating physician James R. Kirkland, M.D. (CL. APA#1, Pgs.9-10, 15-16). (R. pp. 3-13, 10-11).*

In Anderson, the Claimant's treating psychiatrist provided a letter that her September 1, 1995, fall "aggravated her pre-existing psychiatric diagnosis." Anderson, 493, 529 (2001). The Court noted: "These contentions are, if not supported, at least not contradicted by the notes of Dr. Robert Peele, the carrier-approved treating physician." Id. Further, "Although Anderson was receiving treatment for depression prior to this accident, the only substantial evidence in the record clearly shows her condition was aggravated by the work-related fall." Anderson, 494, 529 (2001). Similarly, based on the preponderance of the evidence as a whole including Appellant's testimony,

(R. pp. 447-585, 497-583), Dr. Kirkland's unrefuted causation statements (R. pp. 44-45, 50-51), and authorized treating physician, Ivan E. LaMotta, M.D., August 24, 2017, note (R. 156-160), the Appellant's psychiatric/psychological worsening was directly tied to the original March 28, 2017, on the job accident. Therefore, Dr. Kirkland's two (2) causation statements remain the sole statutory compliant medical evidence presented. (R. pp. 44-45, 50-51)

The Hearing Commissioner's Finding #13 to select a different physician moving forward is not evidence, but instruction on how to fulfill the clear causally related aggravation. The Hearing Commissioner merely directed that the parties select a different evaluating psychiatrist which neither negated unequivocal expert medical proof nor modified any underlying finding.

**B. The Appellate Panel's reversal of Hearing Commissioner's causation finding was not an independent determination.**

"The Appellate Panel is the ultimate fact finder in Workers' Compensation cases and is not bound by the Hearing Commissioner's findings of fact." Hargrove v. Titan Textile Co., 360 S.C. 276, 599 S.E.2d 604 (Ct. App. 2004) (citing Gibson v. Spartanburg School Dist. 3, 338 S.C. at 517, 526 S.E.2d at 729; Muir v. C.R. Bard, Inc., 336 S.C. 266, 519 S.E.2d 583 (Ct. App. 1999)). The final weight accorded evidence falls to the Appellate Panel. Id. In the case at bar, the Appellate Panel Order stated:

*In an appellate review, the Appellate Panel shall, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-50 (1976, as amended), review the award, weigh the evidence as presented at the initial hearing and, if good grounds be shown therefor, make its own Findings of Fact and reach its own Conclusions of Law consistent with or inconsistent with those of the Hearing Commissioner.*  
(R. pp. 14-29, 22).

The Order recognized Appellant's strong, candid testimony as well as submitted causation evidence in findings numbers 3 and 5:

3. *The testimony of Claimant, Timothy M. Clayton, was clear and honest. Mr. Clayton possesses a ninth (9<sup>th</sup>) grade education. [Hrg. Tr. Pg. 51, ln. 25-pg. 52, ln. 2]. His preexisting psychological issue*

dates to his childhood. Mr. Clayton cutoff all contact with father. [Hrg. Tr. Pg.127, ln. 24-pg. 128, ln. 9]. In the past, the Claimant experienced increased work to larger vehicles and increased pressure from job, but continued to work until July 17, 2017, with the Employer even during his treatment with James R. Kirkland, M.D., which were generally three (3) months apart, but sometimes sooner, especially after the March 28, 2017, on the job accident. [Hrg. Tr. Pg.53, ll. 5-15; Pg. 85, ll.1-9; Pg. 86, ll.6-18; Pg. 94, ll. 2-6, 19-21; CL APA#1, pgs. 1-5; DEF APA#1, pgs. 1-10]. Since receiving psychological counseling pursuant to Dr. Kirkland's recommendation, the Claimant did not think his psychological condition was any better or worse; everything is about the same; treatment does not seem to be working. [Hrg. Tr. Pg. 98, ln. 20- pg. 100, ln.2]. The Claimant's medications were increased. [C-1].

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