RECEIVED
May 19 2021
SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
Workers' Compensation Commission

Appellate Case No: 2020-000718

Timothy Clayton, Employee.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Transportation, Employer, and South Carolina State Accident
Fund, Carrier,.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Erin F. Farthing
S.C. Bar No. 76151
South Carolina State Accident Fund
PO Box 102100
Columbia, SC 29221
(803) 896-5892
efarthing@saf.sc.gov

Attorney for Respondents

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

On March 19 and 22, 2018, at the recommendation of Dr. Kirkland, Appellant was seen by Dr. William Haxton for a Neuropsychological Re-evaluation. (R. p. 216). At that time, Appellant noted Dr. Lowndes-Rosen’s opinion that Appellant’s cognitive issues could be due to overuse of antianxiety medication, such as Xanax⁸, and advised Dr. Haxton that he was not taking any

⁶ Citalopram is the generic form of Celexa, the medication which Appellant’s wife told Dr. Kirkland Appellant had not been taking since the prior year. The medical note from March 21, 2017, the last note prior to Appellant’s work accident, indicates Dr. Kirkland was prescribing Celexa to Appellant at that time. (R. p. 40).

⁷ During his March 8, 2018 visit with Dr. Kirkland, Appellant noted to Dr. Kirkland that Dr. Lowndes-Rosen noted some cognitive changes, but the medical note does not indicate that Appellant advised Dr. Kirkland that one possible cause for these changes could be Appellant’s medications. (R. p. 48).

⁸ Appellant’s wife advised Dr. Haxton that she had not refilled Appellant’s Xanax medication since November 2017 and that he still has several pills in the bottle, meaning that he took it less than prescribed. (R. p. 217). However, Dr. Haxton noted that, during testing, Appellant “appeared somewhat sedated and his psychomotor speed was

medication for pain. (R. p. 217). Dr. Haxton noted that Appellant “moves and thinks at a notably slow rate of speed, giving the impression of sedation from one or more of his medications.” (R. p. 221). He further noted the possibility, based on Appellant’s wife’s claim that Appellant was taking less than the prescribed amount of his medications, these issues may “stem from the severity of his mood and anxiety disorders.” (R. p. 221). He recommended that Appellant “continue to work with his psychiatrist to treat his mood and anxiety disorders” and to “consult with his psychiatrist regarding the possibility that his medication regimen might be contributing to his current condition.” (R. p. 221). The last medical note in the record from Appellant’s treatment with Dr. Kirkland is from April 5, 2018. This was after Appellant’s evaluation with Dr. Haxton, but before he generated his report. (R. p. 49). Appellant notes that he had the evaluation, but does not discuss with Dr. Kirkland potential concerns with his medication regimen and Appellant’s prescriptions remained the same. (R. p. 49).

Dr. Kirkland completed two separate questionnaires at the request of Appellant’s counsel. In response to the first on December 5, 2017, Dr. Kirkland noted that Appellant’s “increased anxiety, panic attacks, and depression were most probably... aggravated by the low back/right leg/right hip pain; and July 20, 2017 seizure originating when Mr. Clayton lifted hydraulic pumps to saddles on March 28, 2017, while at work.” (R. p. 44). As far as treatment, Dr. Kirkland recommended a referral to a psychologist, the restart of citalopram, and an increased dosage of Xanax.⁹ (R. p. 44). In response to the second questionnaire on May 15, 2018, Dr. Kirkland again

rather slow.” (R. p. 218). Appellant advised Dr. Haxton that he had taken “¼ of a Xanax and ½ of a ‘diamond shaped pill’ prior to his appointment.” (R. p. 218).

⁹ Notably, Dr. Kirkland referred Appellant for counseling prior to his work accident, but Appellant advised Dr. Kirkland he was not open to that at all. (R. p. 37). Further, Appellant was prescribed citalopram/Celexa prior to the accident, including the visit immediately prior to his work accident. (R. p. 40). Finally, while Dr. Kirkland recommended an increase in Appellant’s dosage of Xanax to address his apparent increase in anxiety, per Appellant and his wife, Appellant was not taking it as prescribed. (R. p. 217).

noted that Appellant’s “increased anxiety, panic attacks, and depression were most probably... aggravated by the low back/right leg/right hip pain; and July 20, 2017 seizure originating when Mr. Clayton lifted hydraulic pumps to saddles on March 28, 2017, while at work.” (R. p. 51). He further stated that Appellant’s panic attacks and extreme anxiety would prevent him from maintaining a forty hour work week.¹⁰ (R. p. 51).

¹⁰ Notably, Dr. Kirkland did not opine that Appellant’s medications would prevent him from being able to work a 40 hour work week.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In workers' compensation cases, the Full Commission is the ultimate fact finder.” DeBruhl v. Kershaw County Sheriff's Dep't, 303 S.C. 20, 24, 397 S.E.2d 782, 785 (Ct. App.1990). “While a finding of fact of the commission will normally be upheld, such a finding may not be based upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation, but must be founded on evidence of sufficient substance to afford a reasonable basis for it.” Edwards v. Pettit Constr. Co., 273 S.C. 576, 579, 257 S.E.2d 754, 755 (1979). The final decision regarding witness credibility and the weight to be afforded evidence resides with the Full Commission. Ford v. Allied Chem. Co., 252 S.C. 561, 167 S.E.2d 564 (1969). It is not the job of the appellate courts to weigh the evidence as determined by the Full Commission. Ellis v. Spartan Mills, 276 S.C. 216, 277 S.E.2d 590 (1981). “Under the scope of review established in the APA, this Court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Appellate Panel as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact, but may reverse where the decision is affected by an error of law.” Bass v. Isochem, 365 S.C. 454, 467, 617 S.E.2d 369, 376 (Ct. App. 2005).

The South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act establishes the “substantial evidence” standard of review for decisions by the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Commission and other state agencies. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 133-134, 276 S.E. 2d 304, 307 (1981). Under this standard, the Court of Appeals’ review “is limited to deciding whether the appellate panel’s decision is unsupported by substantial evidence or is controlled by some error of law.” Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 221, 628 S.E. 2d 262, 266 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380). “The commission’s decision **must** be affirmed if the factual findings are supported by substantial evidence in the record.” Jennings v. Chambers Dev. Co., 335 S.C. 249, 259, 516 S.E.2d 453, 458 (Ct. App. 1999) (quoting Minor v. Philips Prods., 329 S.C. 321, 493 S.E.2d 819 (1997))(emphasis added).

ARGUMENT

1. **The Full Commission properly found that the Appellant failed to meet his burden of proving his preexisting psychiatric and psychological conditions were aggravated as a result of his March 28, 2017 on the job accident where the only opinion supporting causation was from a doctor that the Commission found to not be convincing**

The Full Commission properly found that Appellant failed to meet his burden of proving his preexisting psychiatric and psychological conditions were aggravated as a result of his March 28, 2017 on the job accident where the only opinion supporting causation was from a doctor the Commission found to not be convincing. As such, this decision should be affirmed.

Where an injured worker is alleging an aggravation of a preexisting condition as a result of a work related accident, S.C. Code Ann. §42-9-35(A) provides:

The employee shall establish by a preponderance of the evidence, including medical evidence, that

- (1) the subsequent injury aggravated the preexisting condition or permanent physical impairment; or
- (2) the preexisting condition or the permanent physical impairment aggravates the subsequent injury.

However, where an injured worker is alleging an aggravation of a preexisting psychological condition as a result of a work accident, the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act requires either an admission of the aggravation or a specific medical finding by a physician. S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160(D) provides that:

Stress, mental injuries, and mental illness alleged to have been aggravated by a work-related physical injury **may not be found compensable** unless the aggravation is:

- (1) admitted by the employer/carrier;
- (2) noted in a medical record of an authorized physician that, in the physician's opinion, the condition is at least in part causally related or connected to the injury or accident, whether or not the physician refers the employee for treatment of the condition;
- (3) found to be causally related or connected to the accident or injury after evaluation by an authorized psychologist or psychiatrist; or
- 4) noted in a medical record or report of the employee's physician as causally related or connected to the injury or accident. (emphasis added)

With regard to the evidence presented to meet this standard, "the Commission is the sole

fact-finder in workers' compensation cases, and ... any questions of credibility must be resolved by the Commission.” Smith v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Health, 329 S.C. 485, 501, 494 S.E.2d 630, 638 (Ct. App.1997). “Expert medical testimony is designed to aid the Commission in coming to the correct conclusion; therefore, the Commission determines the weight and credit to be given to the expert testimony.” Tiller v. Nat'l Health Care Ctr. of Sumter, 334 S.C. 333, 340, 513 S.E.2d 843, 846 (1999).

In the present claim, Appellant clearly had a very extensive preexisting psychiatric and psychological condition. Respondents never admitted any aggravation of Appellant’s preexisting psychiatric and psychological condition. No authorized treating physician ever opined that Appellant’s psychiatric and psychological condition had been aggravated by his work accident or referred Appellant for psychiatric or psychological treatment relating to his work accident. Dr. Dyana Lowndes-Rosen, the authorized IPE provider, found that Appellant’s condition pre-existed his work accident, and did not indicate that this condition had been aggravated or exacerbated by his work accident.

As none of the first three requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160(D) were met in this present case, Appellant was required to establish with clear, credible evidence the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160(D)(4). While Appellant claims he met this requirement based on the opinions of Dr. Kirkland in his responses to Appellant’s attorney’s questionnaires, the Single Commissioner’s specific finding that Dr. Kirkland is not convincing invalidates those opinions. This finding was not appealed by Appellant to the Full Commission, and is now the law of the case. Only those issues raised to the Commission within the Form 30 are preserved for review by the Full Commission. Hilton v. Flakeboard Am. Ltd., 418 S.C. 245, 791 S.E.2d 719 (2016). All other findings become the law of the case. Ham v. Mullins Lumber Co., 193 S.C. 66, 7 S.E.2d

712 (1940) (holding that all findings of fact and law by the Hearing Commissioner that are not within the scope of an appellant's appeal to the Full Commission become and are the law of the case); Brunson v. American Koyo Bearings, 367 S.C. 161, 165, 623 S.E.2d 870, 872 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding that the findings of fact and law by the single commissioner become and are the law of the case unless excepted to by appellant) *abrogated in part on other grounds* by Bone v. U.S. Food Service, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013); Green v. City of Columbia, 311 S.C. 78, 80, 427 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding the findings of fact and law by the single commissioner become the law of the case, unless within the scope of the appellant's exception to the single commissioner's order) *abrogated in part on other grounds* by Bone v. U.S. Food Service, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013).

Further, Dr. Kirkland's treatment records for Claimant do not appear to support the opinions expressed in his questionnaire responses. Appellant did not see Dr. Kirkland for almost three months after his work accident, and it appears that Appellant moved up that appointment as a matter of convenience for Appellant rather than due to increased symptoms. (R. p. 40). Appellant demonstrated similar, if not the same, symptoms both before and after the accident. Appellant had significant, often debilitating panic attacks prior to his work accident to the point where it occasionally caused Appellant to lose consciousness or to vomit. (R. p. 343). At times prior to Appellant's work accident these panic attacks were so severe that Appellant was afraid to drive for two weeks. (R. p. 41). Appellant advised Dr. Kirkland on October 25, 2012, that he "would not be able to leave the house due to panic attacks if he was not on medication." (R. p. 43). Appellant was recommended for counseling after his work accident, but that is a referral that was made a number of times prior to Appellant's work accident. Appellant expressed reticence about pursuing this both before and after his work accident. As for changes to Appellant's

medications after his accident, the only major change appears to be the dosage of Appellant's Xanax and Citalopram, and a temporary change from Xanax to Valium. Further, there is a serious question presented by the records as to whether Appellant was properly taking his medications both before and after his accident. When Appellant is taking his medications, it appears that his condition improves significantly.

Appellant further faults the Full Commission because it is not clear that they "weighed all evidence to determine Dr. Kirkland unconvincing." In so arguing, Appellant is in essence arguing that the Full Commission erred in not considering an issue that he never raised to them, the Full Commission was not tasked with determining whether Dr. Kirkland was convincing or credible. That decision had been made by the Single Commissioner, and was not appealed to the Full Commission. Therefore, this issue was not before them for review.

While the Full Commission conducts a de novo review of the Single Commissioner's decision, it will only consider those issues properly before it. An issue not raised in the application for review is not preserved for the full commission's consideration. Creech v. Ducane Co., 320 S.C. 559, 564, 467 S.E.2d 114, 117 (Ct.App.1995). Appellant failed to appeal the finding by the Single Commissioner that Dr. Kirkland was not convincing. Therefore, this finding is the law of the case and could not be disturbed by the Full Commission on appeal, nor can this Court now review this finding. Atlantic Coast Builders v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, (2012)(citing Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co., 255 S.C. 159, 177 S.E.2d 544 (1970) for the proposition that "an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.") The Full Commission was faced with two entirely inconsistent findings by the Single Commissioner. As only one finding was challenged on appeal to the Full Commission, they properly reversed that finding.

Further, to the extent that Appellant contends that the Full Commission improperly ignored his “strong, candid testimony” in holding that he did not meet his burden, such testimony would not be sufficient to meet the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160(D). Appellant could only make such a showing through valid medical evidence, not his own testimony, no matter how credible.¹¹ In the present case, the only evidence Appellant submitted to satisfy his burden under S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160(D) was the opinion of a doctor that was found by the Commission to not be convincing. As such, the Full Commission considered the issue properly raised before it in light of this finding and correctly held that the Appellant failed to meet his burden of establishing that his psychiatric and psychological condition has been aggravated by his work accident.

For the reasons set forth above, the Full Commission properly found that Appellant failed to meet his burden of establishing that his preexisting psychiatric and psychological conditions were aggravated as a result of his the March 28, 2017 on the job accident as the only evidence he presented to meet the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-160(D) was an opinion from a physician who was determined to be not convincing. This decision was not appealed to the Full Commission, and is therefore the law of the case. As such, the Full Commission’s decision should be upheld.